**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_

Appeal from Williamsburg County

Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Circuit Court Judge

\_\_\_\_\_

**RECEIVED**

SEP 04 2019

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JOHN ARTHUR JAMES, III

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-001080

\_\_\_\_\_

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

\_\_\_\_\_

JOANNA K. DELANY  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the court erred in appellant's ABHAN trial where it refused to charge the jury on the lesser offense of second degree assault and battery, where expert testimony about the complainant's injuries was that he had "a scar" and that most people tolerate the type of surgery undergone by the complainant "without much difficulty," since these facts supported a finding of moderate bodily injury (second degree assault and battery) rather than great bodily injury (ABHAN), since the court must instruct the jury on a lesser-included offense where there is any evidence of the lesser offense rather than the greater offense?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 25, 2018, a Williamsburg County Grand Jury indicted appellant for the offenses of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN) and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 341 – 342. Appellant was tried before the Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr., and a jury from May 29 – 31, 2018. R. 1. Warren Anderson represented the state. R. 1. Grant Smaldone represented appellant. R. 1.

Appellant was convicted of ABHAN and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime and was sentenced to concurrent terms of twenty years and five years, respectively. R. 323, ll. 8-14; R. 332, l. 24 – 333, l. 4.

This appeal follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review only errors of law.” *State v. Sams*, 410 S.C. 303, 307, 764 S.E.2d 511, 513 (2014); *see also State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 545 S.E.2d 827 (2001). An appellate court is bound by a trial court’s factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. *Wilson*, 345 S.C. at 6, 545 S.E.2d at 829.

“The law to be charged to the jury is determined by the evidence presented at trial.” *State v. Hill*, 315 S.C. 260, 262, 433 S.E.2d 848, 849 (1993). “The trial court is required to charge a jury on a lesser-included offense if there is evidence from which it could be inferred that the defendant committed the lesser, rather than the greater, offense.” *Sams*, 410 S.C. at 308, 764 S.E.2d at 513; *see also State v. Drafts*, 288 S.C. 30, 340 S.E.2d 784 (1986); *State v. Gourdine*, 322 S.C. 396, 472 S.E.2d 241 (1996). “An appellate court will not reverse the trial [court]’s decision absent an abuse of discretion.” *State v. Pittman*, 373 S.C. 527, 570, 647 S.E.2d 144, 166 (2007). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” *Id.* at 570, 647 S.E.2d at 166–67. “The refusal to grant a requested jury charge that states a sound principle of law applicable to the case at hand is an error of law.” *Id.* at 570, 647 S.E.2d at 167.

“In determining whether the evidence requires a charge on a lesser-included offense, the [appellate court] must view the facts in the light most favorable to the defendant.” *Sams*, 410 S.C. at 308, 764 S.E.2d at 513 (citing *State v. Cole*, 338 S.C. 97, 525 S.E.2d 511 (2000)). “The charge request is properly rejected when there is no evidence tending to show the defendant was guilty of the lesser offense.” *Id.*

## ARGUMENT

The court erred in appellant's ABHAN trial where it refused to charge the jury on the lesser offense of second degree assault and battery, where expert testimony about the complainant's injuries was that he had "a scar" and that most people tolerate the type of surgery undergone by the complainant "without much difficulty," since these facts supported a finding of moderate bodily injury (second degree assault and battery) rather than great bodily injury (ABHAN), since the court must instruct the jury on a lesser-included offense where there is any evidence of the lesser offense rather than the greater offense.

### ***Relevant facts***

The complainant, James Singletary, pulled into the IGA parking lot in his red Chevy, and appellant left his mother's car and walked over. R. 22, ll. 14-18; R. 59, ll. 14-17. It appears the complainant's sister Jackie, who previously dated appellant, had gone missing. Appellant said he walked over to tell the complainant the "good news" that he had heard from her and she was home. R. 134, l. 22 – 135, l. 24; R. 139, ll. 3-5; R. 140, l. 7 – 141, l. 11; R. 176, l. 19 – 177, l. 7.

What happened next was disputed. Appellant said he went to the complainant's car to speak with him but ran away when the complainant reached in his glove box. R. 139, ll. 3-12. The complainant claimed appellant came up and punched him in the face three times. R. 23, ll. 4-7. It was undisputed that the 6'5" complainant got out of his car and came after the 5'2" appellant. R. 35, l. 15 – 37, l. 10.

For a while it appeared the altercation was over and both men retreated to their respective cars. R. 37, l. 19 – 38, l. 3. However, the complainant subsequently opened his trunk, got out a machete, and headed towards appellant while waving the machete. R. 39, ll. 3 – 42, l. 23. Appellant said that the complainant had earlier pointed a gun at him. R. 143, ll. 10-16; R. 165, ll.

2-4. Appellant explained he was frightened for himself and for his mother when the complainant “unleashed” his “sword” and came towards them. R. 154, ll. 5-6; R. 148, l. 24 – 149, l. 9; R. 150, ll. 22-25; R. 152, ll. 3-5.

Appellant got his mother’s gun and shot the complainant twice, after first firing what appellant said was a warning shot and the complainant contended was just a shot that missed. R. 151, l. 24 – 152, l. 2; R. 154, ll. 3-6; R. 162, ll. 5-6; R. 41, ll. 22-23. EMS arrived and took the complainant to the hospital. R. 75, ll. 9-10. Appellant remained on the scene to explain what happened to police officers. R. 105, ll. 9-23; R. 73, ll. 22-25.

Both appellant and the complainant were criminally charged: appellant with ABHAN and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and the complainant with first degree assault and battery and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 96, ll. 9-23. Strangely, at trial the complainant denied that he had pleaded guilty to any charges in conjunction with this case, but he was impeached with his sentence sheet. R. 47, l. 5 – 49, l. 19. The solicitor agreed the complainant had, in fact, pleaded guilty and said that the complainant was “wrong” for brandishing the machete. R. 275, ll. 15-18.

The testimony about the complainant’s injuries was succinct. The complainant testified that as a result of the gunshot wounds, “we had to do surgery on my stomach. They had to remove the bullet from my stomach. They took out fifteen inches of intestines.” R. 28, ll. 6-8.

Dr. John Gause treated the complainant at McLeod Regional Medical Center, and he was qualified as an expert in general surgery. R. 54, ll. 1-15. Dr. Gause said the complainant had been shot in the abdomen and groin, and that the surgery he performed resulted in the complainant “los[ing] part of his small intestine.” R. 54, l. 18 – 55, l. 10. Dr. Gause explained that the complainant had holes in his small bowel so he “resected” the bowel; “hook[ed] the

bowel back together.” R. 54, l. 19 – 55, l. 4. Dr. Gause said that absent the surgery, the complainant “would have died from peritonitis.” R. 55, ll. 17-21. The solicitor questioned Dr. Gause about the extent of the injuries:

**Q. Did this cause him permanent disfigurement, or will it cause him permanent disfigurement?**

**A. He’s got a scar on his midline so he has a scar.**

**Q. And how about impairment of his organs, any impairment of his organs?**

**A. Most people tolerate a resection of a portion of small bowel without much difficulties, but it’s something that had to be done.**

Q. But he did lose a portion of that bowel?

A. Yes, sir.

R. 56, ll. 4-13 (emphasis added).

At the close of evidence, defense counsel requested the jury be charged on the lesser-included offense of assault and battery in the second degree. R. 319, ll. 14-22. However, the court stated, “I don’t think the facts of this case warrant that. It’s either going to be ABHAN or [assault and battery] first degree or not guilty,” and denied the request. R. 319, ll. 22-25. An hour into deliberations, the jury asked to be re-charged on ABHAN and first degree assault and battery. R. 320, ll. 8-21. The court did so re-charge the jury and appellant was convicted as indicted.

### ***Discussion***

The court erred when it refused to charge the jury on assault and battery in the second degree, since there was evidence presented that tended to reduce the crime.

The South Carolina Constitution requires the judge charge the jury on the applicable law. S.C. CONST. art. V, § 21; *State v. Hendrix*, 86 S.C. 64, 68 S.E.2d 129 (1910). “If there is

evidence in the record from which the jury could infer the defendant is guilty of the lesser-included offense, rather than the crime charged, the trial judge **must** instruct the jury on the lesser-included offense.” *State v. Gilmore*, 396 S.C. 72, 76, 719 S.E.2d 688, 690 (Ct. App. 2011) (emphasis added). “The trial judge is to charge the jury on a lesser included offense if there is any evidence from which it could be inferred the lesser, rather than the greater, offense was committed.” *State v. Gourdine*, 322 S.C. 396, 398, 472 S.E.2d 241, 241 (1996).

Appellant was charged with ABHAN. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600(B) provides in relevant part, that a person commits the offense of ABHAN “if the person unlawfully injures another person, and: (a) great bodily injury to another person results; or (b) the act is accomplished by means likely to produce death or great bodily injury.” “Great bodily injury” is defined as “bodily injury which causes a substantial risk of death or which causes serious, permanent disfigurement or protracted loss or impairment of the function of a bodily member or organ.” § 16-3-600(A)(1). While the jury could have found an unlawful injury was inflicted by appellant which caused great bodily injury or was accomplished by means likely to cause great bodily injury—and thus he was guilty of ABHAN—it was error not to charge the jury on the offense of second degree assault and battery, as there was evidence appellant was guilty of the lesser rather than the greater charge.

Assault and battery in the second degree is a lesser-included offense of ABHAN. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600(D)(3). § 16-3-600(D) provides in relevant part that a person commits assault and battery in the second degree “if the person unlawfully injures another person, or offers or attempts to injure another person with the present ability to do so, and: (a) moderate bodily injury to another person results or moderate bodily injury to another person could have resulted.” Moderate bodily injury is defined as “physical injury that involves prolonged loss of

consciousness, or that causes temporary or moderate disfigurement or temporary loss of the function of a bodily member or organ, or injury that requires medical treatment when the treatment requires the use of regional or general anesthesia or injury that results in a fracture or dislocation.”<sup>1</sup> S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600(A)(2).

The evidence here supported a charge of second degree assault and battery because when Dr. Gause was asked his expert opinion of whether the complainant had permanent disfigurement, Dr. Gause only replied, “He’s got a scar on his midline so he has a scar.” R. 56, ll. 4-6. No photos of the scar were introduced, and the scar was never discussed. The jury could have reasonably found appellant unlawfully injured the complainant, but the scar was mere “moderate disfigurement” rather than “serious, permanent disfigurement.”

The evidence also supported a charge of second degree assault and battery because when Dr. Gause was asked his expert opinion of whether the complainant had any impairment of his organs, Dr. Gause answered, “Most people tolerate a resection of a portion of small bowel without much difficulties, but it’s something that had to be done.” R. 56, ll. 7-11. No evidence was introduced about how much or for how long the complainant’s organ was impaired. There was no testimony that the complainant did not tolerate the surgery well or that his bowel’s functioning was impaired. Therefore, the jury could have reasonably found appellant committed an unlawful injury and the resecting of the complainant’s bowel was a “temporary loss” of the function of an organ. Alternatively, it could have found the injury was one which involved medical treatment that required “the use of regional or general anesthesia.”

---

<sup>1</sup> § 16-3-600(A)(2) continues on to explain that “Moderate bodily injury does not include one-time treatment and subsequent observation of scratches, cuts, abrasions, bruises, burns, splinters, or any other minor injuries that do not ordinarily require extensive medical care.”