STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

**RECEIVED**

JUL 26 2019

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Williamsburg County  
The Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No.2018-001080

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

JOHN ARTHUR JAMES, III,

APPELLANT.

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

Ernest J. Finney, III  
Solicitor, Third Judicial Circuit

125 West Main Street  
Kingstree, South Carolina 29556  
(843) 355-9321

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

##

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

The circuit court properly denied Appellant's request for a jury charge of the lesser included offense of assault and battery, second degree, because the evidence did not support such a charge.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The State concurs with Appellant's procedural Statement of the Case.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On January 25, 2018, a Williamsburg County Grand Jury indicted Appellant John Arthur James, III, on one count of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN), and one count of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, arising from a shooting incident on July 15, 2017, in an IGA parking lot. The matter was called for a jury trial on May 28, 2018, before the Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr.

James Singletary (“Singletary”) testified he went to the IGA the day of the shooting to get something to eat. When he drove into the parking lot, he spoke to a friend, and then parked his car. As Singletary opened his car door, Appellant walked up and punched him three times in the face. Singletary stated Appellant “hollered, he got a weapon, he got a weapon,” but Singletary was unarmed at the time. Appellant then ran around in a circle, came back to Singletary’s car and kicked the car door. (Trial Transcript [TT], pp. 45-48, State’s Exhibit 1; Record on Appeal [R.], pp. \_\_\_\_).<sup>1</sup>

Appellant fell down after kicking Singletary’s car, then got up, ran over to his mother, who was by her car in the parking lot, and told her to “give [him] that damn thing out of the box.” Singletary spoke to his friend for about thirty seconds, and started toward his car to leave, but Appellant started yelling at him, so Singletary got a machete out of the trunk of his car and started walking toward Appellant. Singletary stopped and said he was going to call the police. Appellant then got out of his mother’s car with a gun. Appellant fired a shot toward Singletary, who turned around and started walking away for Appellant. (TT, pp. 48-50; R., pp. \_\_\_\_).

---

<sup>1</sup> State’s Exhibit 1 (Video) will be transported to the Court for consideration.

As Singletary walked away, Appellant came up behind him. When Singletary got to a corner of the building, Appellant shot him twice in the abdomen from approximately six feet away. (TT, pp. 50-51; R., pp. \_\_\_\_\_).

Dr. John Gause testified he was working at McLeod Regional Medical Center in July 2017, and in his capacity as a general surgeon, he was called to the emergency room on July 15<sup>th</sup> after Singletary was transported there by ambulance. He stated Singletary had gunshot wounds in his abdomen and groin, with multiple injuries (six holes) to his small bowel. Dr. Gause operated and removed approximately fifteen inches of Singletary's small intestine, and hooked the remaining bowel back together. Dr. Gause testified that without the surgery and removal of part of his small intestine, Singletary would have died from peritonitis (an infection caused by stool leaking from the bowel into the abdominal cavity). In addition to losing part of an internal organ (small intestine), Singletary was left with a surgical scar on his midline. (TT, pp. 76-80; R., pp. \_\_\_\_\_).

At the close of the State's case-in-chief, Appellant moved for a directed verdict on the ground the State failed to prove Singletary suffered the "level of bodily injury" required for an ABHAN conviction because the surgery involving his small intestine was not complex, and the only permanent disfigurement was a scar. The State argued being shot twice causes substantial risk of death, and Dr. Gause testified Singletary would have died without the surgery to treat his internal injuries, which was sufficient to present the case to the jury. The circuit court agreed and denied Appellant's directed verdict motion. (TT, pp. 131-132; R., pp. \_\_\_\_\_).<sup>2</sup>

The circuit court instructed the jury on ABHAN, the lesser included offense of assault and battery, first degree, and self-defense. After the jury left the courtroom, Appellant objected to the

---

<sup>2</sup>Appellant also moved for a directed verdict on the ground the State failed to disprove his self-defense claim, which the court also denied. (TT, pp. 132-134; R., pp. \_\_\_\_\_). Appellant does not challenge that ruling on appeal.

court's failure to charge the lesser included offense of assault and battery, second degree, which he had requested during a previous bench conference. The court acknowledged Appellant made the request, but denied the requested charge, stating: "I don't think the facts of this case warrant that. It's either going to be ABHAN or first degree or not guilty." (TT, pp. 326-343; R., pp. \_\_\_\_).

The jury convicted Appellant of ABHAN and possession of a weapon during a crime of violence, and the court sentenced him to concurrent prison terms of twenty years and five years, respectively. (TT, pp. 347-357; R., pp. \_\_\_\_). This appeal followed.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing jury charges for error, the appellate court must consider the court's jury charge as a whole in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial. State v. Mattison, 388 S.C. 469, 697 S.E.2d 578, 583 (2010); State v. Adkins, 353 S.C. 312, 577 S.E.2d 460, 463 (Ct.App.2003). A jury charge does not require reversal if it is substantially correct and covers the law in light of the evidence presented at trial. Mattison, 697 S.E.2d at 583 (internal citations omitted). To warrant reversal, a trial judge's refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant. *Id.* (citing State v. Burkhart, 350 S.C. 252, 565 S.E.2d 298, 303 (2002)). An appellate court will not reverse the trial judge's decision regarding a jury charge absent an abuse of discretion. *Id.* at 584 (citing State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 647 S.E.2d 144 [2007]).

## ARGUMENT

**The circuit court properly denied Appellant's request for a jury charge of the lesser included offense of assault and battery, second degree, because the evidence did not support such a charge.**

Appellant contends the circuit court erred in denying his request for a jury charge on assault and battery, second degree, because the evidence could support a finding Singletary only suffered "moderate bodily injury," rather than "serious bodily injury." This contention is meritless on its face.

"The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial." Mattison, 697 S.E.2d at 583 (*quoting State v. Knoten*, 347 S.C. 296, 555 S.E.2d 391, 394 [(2001)]). "The trial court is required to charge a jury on a lesser-included offense if there is any evidence from which it could be inferred the lesser, rather than the greater, offense was committed." State v. Williams, No. 2018-000994, \_\_\_\_ S.C. \_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_ S.E.2d \_\_\_\_, 2019 WL 2440954, at \*4 (S.C. Sup. Ct., June 12, 2019) (*quoting Suber v. State*, 371 S.C. 554, 640 S.E.2d 884, 886 [2007]). To determine if the evidence requires a charge on a lesser-included offense, the facts must be viewed in the light most favorable to the defendant. *Id.* (*citing State v. Byrd*, 323 S.C. 319, 474 S.E.2d 430, 431 [1996]).

A person commits the offense of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature if he unlawfully injures another person, resulting in great bodily injury to another person, or the act is accomplished by means likely to produce death or great bodily injury. S.C. Code Ann. §16-3-600(B)(1) (2015). "Great bodily injury" means bodily injury which causes a substantial risk of death or which causes serious, permanent disfigurement or protracted loss or impairment of the function of a bodily member or organ." S.C. Code Ann. §16-3-600(A)(1) (2015). ABHAN is a felony, punishable by up to twenty years incarceration. S.C. Code §16-3-600(B)(3) (2015).

A person commits assault and battery, second degree “if the person unlawfully injures another person, or offers or attempts to injure another person with the present ability to do so, and: (a) moderate bodily injury to another person results or moderate bodily injury to another person could have resulted.” S.C. Code Ann. §16-3-600(D)(1)(a) (2015). “Moderate bodily injury” means physical injury that involves prolonged loss of consciousness, or that causes temporary or moderate disfigurement or temporary loss of the function of a bodily member or organ, or injury that requires medical treatment when the treatment requires the use of regional or general anesthesia or injury that results in a fracture or dislocation. Moderate bodily injury does not include one-time treatment and subsequent observation of scratches, cuts, abrasions, bruises, burns, splinters, or any other minor injuries that do not ordinarily require extensive medical care.” S.C. Code Ann. §16-3-600(A)(2) (2015).

Assault and battery, second degree, is a lesser-included offense of assault and battery, first degree, assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, and attempted murder. S.C. Code Ann. §16-3-600(D)(3) (2015). Assault and battery in the second degree is a misdemeanor, punishable by a fine not to exceed \$2500s, or not more than three years incarceration or both S.C. Code Ann. §16-3-300(D)(2) (2015).<sup>3</sup>

---

<sup>3</sup> “A person commits the offense of assault and battery in the first degree if the person unlawfully: (a) injures another person, and the act: . . . or (b) offers or attempts to injure another person with the present ability to do so, and the act: (i) is accomplished by means likely to produce death or great bodily injury.” S.C. Code Ann. §16-3-600(C)(1)(a) and (b) (2015). “Assault and battery in the first degree is a lesser-included offense of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, as defined in subsection (B)(1), and attempted murder, as defined in Section 16-3-29.” S.C. Code Ann. §16-3-600(B)(2) (2015). Assault and battery in the first degree is a felony, punishable by up to ten years incarceration. S.C. Code Ann. §16-3-600(C)(2) (2015). Appellant completely skips over the felony of assault and battery in the first degree, and goes to the misdemeanor charge.

Appellant admits he shot Singletary two times, and does not dispute the medical evidence regarding Singletary's injuries and the treatment necessary to repair them, but makes the incredible assertion the evidence did not rise to the level of great bodily injury because Singletary only had a scar from the surgery necessary to remove the bullet and part of his small intestine, and the doctor testified most people do well after partial removal of their small intestine. He contends there was no evidence presented to the jury regarding the extent of the scar, or how much or how long Singletary's small intestine was impaired, and therefore, the jury could have found Singletary sustained only moderate bodily injury.

Focusing on the length of Singletary's surgical scar and recovery from surgery, Appellant attempts to draw attention away from the extent of Singletary's injuries. It is undisputed Appellant shot at Singletary three times, and the last two shots hit Singletary in the abdomen and groin, resulting in six holes in Singletary's small intestine. It is also undisputed his injuries required surgery and removal of a portion of his small intestine, without which Singletary would have died. In light of this undisputed evidence, it defies common sense and reason to contend his injuries were merely "moderate bodily injury."

To the contrary, based on the undisputed evidence presented, Appellant's actions "cause[d] a substantial risk of death or . . . serious, permanent disfigurement or protracted loss or impairment of the function of a bodily member or organ." Nothing in §16-3-600(A)(1) (definition of great bodily injury) or §16-3-600(B)(1) (ABHAN) requires that a permanent disfigurement or protracted loss of a bodily member or organ be visible to the naked eye, or that the victim's recovery from the injuries be difficult. The doctor testified Singletary would have died without surgical intervention, and the internal injuries caused by Appellant's actions required permanent removal

of a portion of an organ. This evidence removed any issue regarding “great bodily injury” versus “moderate bodily injury.”<sup>4</sup>

Considering the evidence in the light most favorable to Appellant, the circuit court’s finding that a charge on the lesser included offense of assault and battery, second degree, was not warranted is amply supported by undisputed evidence in the record. Therefore, the circuit court properly denied Appellant’s request for a jury charge on assault and battery ,second degree.

---

<sup>4</sup>Arguably, any “great bodily injury” necessarily encompasses “moderate bodily injury,” but an assault and battery, second degree charge is **not** proper in every assault and battery case. When, as in this case, the evidence before the jury regarding the extent of a victim’s injuries can lead only to a finding of great bodily injury, giving a charge regarding “moderate bodily injury” would only serve to mislead and confuse the jury.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the State respectfully submits Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.